QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

PROSPECTUS



AQUILA, INC.

Offer To Exchange

up to \$500,000,000 principal amount of its new 11⁷/₈% Senior Notes due July 1, 2012, which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, for any and all of its outstanding 11⁷/₈% Senior Notes due July 1, 2012

This prospectus relates to the offer by Aquila, Inc. to exchange up to \$500,000,000 of new 11⁷/8% senior notes due July 1, 2012, which are referred to as the "exchange notes," for any and all of its outstanding 11⁷/8% senior notes due July 1, 2012, which are referred to as the "restricted notes." The exchange notes have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933 and, therefore, are freely transferable, whereas the restricted notes are subject to certain transfer restrictions.

Interest on the restricted notes is, and on the exchanges notes will be, paid each January 1 and July 1. The next interest payment will be made July 1, 2003. The exchange notes are subject to optional redemption by Aquila prior to maturity, in whole or in part, at the make-whole redemption price described in this prospectus.

The restricted notes are, and the exchange notes will be, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of Aquila.

- The exchange offer expires at 5:00 p.m. New York City time on June 27, 2003, unless extended.
- You should carefully review the procedures for tendering your restricted notes beginning on page 16 of this prospectus.
- Tenders of restricted notes may be withdrawn at any time prior to the expiration of the exchange offer.
- All restricted notes that are validly tendered and not validly withdrawn will be exchanged.
- Holders of restricted notes do not have any appraisal or dissenters' rights in connection with the exchange offer.
- Restricted notes not exchanged in the exchange offer will remain outstanding and be entitled to the benefits of
 the indenture under which they were issued, though, except under certain circumstances, will not have further
 exchange or registration rights.
- No public market currently exists for the restricted notes. We do not intend to list the exchange notes on any securities exchange and, therefore, no active public market for the exchange notes may develop.

Each holder of restricted notes wishing to accept the exchange offer must effect a tender of restricted notes by bookentry transfer into the exchange agent's account at The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"). All deliveries are at the risk of the holder. You can find detailed instructions concerning delivery in the "Exchange Offer" section of this prospectus.

YOU SHOULD CAREFULLY REVIEW THE "RISK FACTORS" BEGINNING ON PAGE 5 OF THIS PROSPECTUS.

Schedule MWC-7

Each broker-dealer that receives exchange notes for its own account pursuant to this exchange offer must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of those exchange notes. The exchange offer letter of transmittal states that by so acknowledging and by delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of the exchange notes received in exchange for restricted notes that the broker-dealer acquired as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities. We have agreed that we will make this prospectus available to any such broker-dealer for use in connection with such a resale for the earlier to occur of (a) a period of 180 days after the consummation of the exchange offer, and (b) the date on which such restricted notes held by such a broker-dealer have been sold. See "Plan of Distribution."

NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION HAS APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED OF THE EXCHANGE NOTES OR DETERMINED IF THIS PROSPECTUS IS ACCURATE OR COMPLETE. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

YOU SHOULD READ THIS ENTIRE DOCUMENT AND THE ACCOMPANYING LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL AND RELATED DOCUMENTS AND ANY AMENDMENTS OR SUPPLEMENTS CAREFULLY BEFORE MAKING YOUR DECISION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE EXCHANGE OFFER.

The date of this prospectus is May 9, 2003

TABLE OF CONTENTS

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	1
SUMMARY	2
RISK FACTORS	5
ABOUT AQUILA	5
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS	6
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES	6
USE OF PROCEEDS	6
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION	7
EXCHANGE OFFER	8
DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES	17
TAX MATTERS	23
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	23
LEGAL OPINIONS	24
EXPERTS	24

You should rely only on the information contained in this document or to which we have referred you herein. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information that is different. This document may only be used where it is legal to sell these securities. The information in this document may only be accurate on the date of this document.

Unless otherwise indicated or unless the context requires otherwise, all references in this document to "Aquila," "the

Company," "we," "our," "us," or similar references mean Aquila, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

i

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You may read and copy any materials that we file at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information regarding the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. We file information electronically with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains the reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically. The address of the SEC's Internet site is http://www.sec.gov.

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to other documents. This information incorporated by reference is considered part of this prospectus, and information that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below and any future filings made with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14, or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934:

- Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002
- Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 15, 2003

You may request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by telephoning or writing to us at the following address:

Investor Relations Aquila, Inc. 20 West Ninth Street Kansas City, Missouri 64105 Telephone (816) 421-6600

Additionally, you can get further information about us, including our SEC reports listed above, on our website, http://www.aquila.com. We do not, however, intend for the information on our website (other than our SEC reports listed above) to constitute part of this prospectus.

1

SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this prospectus and summarizes the material terms of the exchange offer. This summary may not contain all of the information that may be important to you. You should read the entire prospectus carefully before making an investment decision.

Summary of the Terms of the Exchange Offer

The Exchange Offer

We are offering to issue the exchange notes in exchange for a like principal amount of outstanding restricted notes. We are offering to issue the exchange notes to satisfy our obligations under a registration rights agreement entered into when the restricted notes were sold in transactions pursuant to Rule 144A under

the Securities Act. The outstanding restricted notes are subject to transfer restrictions that we believe will not apply to the exchange notes so long as you are acquiring the exchange notes in the ordinary course of your business, you are not participating in a distribution of the exchange notes and you are not an affiliate of ours.

In addition, each broker-dealer that is issued exchange notes for its own account in exchange for restricted notes that were acquired by the broker-dealer as a result of market making or other trading activities must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any resale of the exchange notes. A broker-dealer may use this prospectus for an offer to resell, resale or other transfer of the exchange notes. The SEC has not considered the exchange offer in the context of a no-action letter and we cannot be sure that the staff of the SEC would make a similar determination with respect to the exchange offer as in such other circumstances.

Registration Rights Agreement

We sold the restricted notes on July 3, 2002. Certain of the restricted notes were immediately resold by the initial purchasers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act. At the same time, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the initial purchasers requiring us to make this exchange offer. The registration rights agreement also required us to use reasonable efforts to cause the exchange offer registration statement to be declared effective under the Securities Act by January 29, 2003. Because we failed to do so, the restricted notes have been accruing additional interest at a rate of .005% per week. This additional interest amount will be paid on the next regular interest payment date of July 1, 2003.

Expiration Date

The exchange offer will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on June 27, 2003, unless it is extended.

2

Withdrawal

If you decide to tender your outstanding restricted notes pursuant to the exchange offer, you may withdraw them at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date.

Interest on the Exchange Notes

Interest on the exchange notes will accrue from January 1, 2003. No additional and Restricted Notes interest will be paid on the restricted notes tendered and accepted for exchange.

Conditions to the Exchange Offer

The exchange offer is subject to customary conditions, some of which may be waived by us. See "Exchange Offer—Conditions to Exchange Offer."

Procedures for Tendering Restricted Notes

To tender your outstanding restricted notes you must follow the detailed procedures described under the heading "The Exchange Offer-Procedures for Tendering." If you decide to exchange your restricted notes for exchange notes, you must acknowledge that you do not intend to engage in and have no arrangement with any person to participate in a distribution of the exchange notes.

Exchange Agent

Bank One Trust Company, N.A.

Federal Income Tax Consequences

We believe your exchange of restricted notes for exchange notes pursuant to the exchange offer will not constitute a sale or exchange for federal income tax purposes. See "Tax Matters."

Failure to Exchange Your Restricted Notes and Trading Market

If you fail to tender your outstanding restricted notes for exchange notes in the exchange offer or if you tender your outstanding restricted notes but they are not

accepted, your outstanding restricted notes will continue to be subject to transfer restrictions and you will not have any further rights under the registration rights agreement, including any right to require us to register your outstanding restricted notes or to pay any additional interest.

We cannot assure you that an active public market for the exchange notes will develop or as to the liquidity of any market that may develop for the exchange notes, the ability of holders to sell the exchange notes, or the price at which holders would be able to sell the exchange notes. We do not intend to list the exchange notes on any securities exchange and, therefore, no public market is anticipated.

3

Summary of the Terms of the Exchange Notes

Issuer Aquila, Inc.

Securities Offered \$500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 11⁷/8% Senior Notes due July 1.

2012.

Maturity Date July 1, 2012.

Interest Payment Dates Each January 1 and July 1, commencing on January 1, 2003.

Optional Redemption We may redeem all of the exchange notes, in whole or in part, at any time at a

price equal to the greater of (i) the principal amount being redeemed or (ii) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the notes being redeemed, discounted to the redemption date at the Treasury Yield plus 50 basis points, plus in each case, accrued interest to the redemption date. Notes will be redeemed in denominations of \$1,000 and integral

multiples of \$1,000. See "Description of the Notes-Redemption."

Ranking The exchange notes are direct, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of

Aquila and will rank without preference or priority among themselves and equally with all of our existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated

obligations for money borrowed.

Events of Default If an event of default occurs, the principal amount of the exchange notes then

outstanding, together with any accrued interest, may be declared immediately due

and payable. See "Description of the Notes-Events of Default."

Form and Denomination The exchange notes will be issued in fully registered form, in denominations of

\$1,000 and in integral multiples of \$1,000. They will be represented by one or more permanent global securities in registered form deposited with the trustee, as book-entry depository, for the benefit of The Depository Trust Company, or DTC. Beneficial interests in the exchange notes will be shown on, and transfers of these will be made only through, records maintained in book-entry form by

DTC with respect to its participants.

Use of Proceeds We will not receive any cash proceeds from the issuance of the exchange notes.

Fees and Expenses We will bear all expenses related to consummating the exchange offer and

complying with the registration rights agreement.

RISK FACTORS

We filed our 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-K on April 15, 2003. This report contains, among other things, a detailed description of our company, business, business plans, financial condition and operating results and our analysis of each, as well as a description of certain challenges facing our industry and our company. In particular, page 64 of our 2002 Annual Report describes some of key challenges we face in implementing our business plan. Our 2002 Annual Report contains information that is fundamental to understanding our Company and your investment in the notes. Page 1 of this prospectus sets forth instructions regarding how you may obtain a copy of our 2002 Annual Report.

No public market for the exchange notes.

There is no existing market for the restricted notes. We cannot assure you that any market will develop, or if any market will be liquid. Consequently, it may be difficult for holders to sell their exchange notes.

Failure to participate in the exchange offer may have adverse consequences.

If you do not exchange your restricted notes for exchange notes in accordance with the exchange offer, you will continue to be subject to the restrictions on transfer of your restricted notes. In general, the restricted notes may not be offered or sold, unless:

- they are registered under the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws; or
- they are offered or sold in connection with an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act; or
- they are offered or sold in a transaction that is not subject to the Securities Act.

We do not intend to and have not agreed to register restricted notes not tendered in the exchange offer under the Securities Act. To the extent restricted notes are tendered and accepted in the exchange offer, the trading market, if any, for the restricted notes not tendered will be adversely affected.

ABOUT AQUILA

Aquila, Inc. is a multinational energy provider headquartered in Kansas City, Missouri. We began as Missouri Public Service Company in 1917 and reincorporated in Delaware as UtiliCorp United Inc. in 1985. In March 2002, we changed our name to Aquila, Inc. We operate regulated and non-regulated businesses in four countries. As of December 31, 2002, we had 4,710 employees, with 3,496 of them in the United States and the remaining 1,214 in Canada. Our business is organized into two groups: Global Networks Group, which consists of Domestic Networks and International Networks, and Merchant Services, which consists of Capacity Services and Wholesale Services:

- Global Networks Group—Our Domestic Networks business owns and operates regulated electric and natural gas operations in the United States, where we provide natural gas and/or electricity to approximately 1.3 million customers in Colorado, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri and Nebraska. Domestic Networks also includes Everest Connections, our 96% owned domestic communications business. Our International Networks business owns and manages interests in electric, gas and communications networks in Australia and the United Kingdom, serving approximately 4.0 million customers. Our International Networks also include our wholly-owned electric generation, transmission and distribution properties serving approximately 483,000 customers in two Canadian provinces.
- Merchant Services—Merchant Services consists of Capacity Services, which owns, operates and contractually controls our non-regulated electric power generation assets, and Wholesale Services, our North

American and European commodity client and capital businesses.

5

The reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission are made available free of charge at our website http://www.aquila.com as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports are filed.

Our principal office is located at 20 West Ninth Street, Kansas City, Missouri 64105 and our telephone number is (816) 421-6600.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

We filed our 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-K on April 15, 2003. This report contains, among other things, a detailed description of our company, business, business plans, financial condition and operating results and our analysis of each, as well as a description of certain challenges facing our industry and our company. In particular, page 64 of our 2002 Annual Report describes some of key challenges we face in implementing our business plan. It is fundamental to an understanding of your investment in our company that you read this document. Page 1 of this prospectus sets forth instructions about how you may get a copy of our 2002 Annual Report.

On April 22, 2003, we announced we had reached an agreement to sell all of our Australian interests for approximately \$589 million, which after fees, expenses and taxes is projected to yield net cash proceeds of \$445 million of closing. We intend to use the proceeds to prepay obligations under our new 364-day senior secured loan, and the remainder to carry out our restructuring plan. Completion of the transaction is conditional upon a series of agreed transaction steps, regulatory, shareholder and related approvals, and completion of the purchaser's financing arrangements.

The statement that we expect net proceeds from the transaction to be \$445 million is a forward looking statement. Important factors that could result in the actual net proceeds being materially different than the projected net proceeds include the possibility that (i) the transaction won't be completed, (ii) the purchase price will be adjusted and (iii) the actual fees, expenses or taxes resulting from the transaction will be materially different than Aquila's internal estimates.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The ratio of our earnings to fixed charges for each of the periods indicated below is as follows:

For the
Years Ended December 31,

1998	1999	2000	2001	2002
2.04	1.94	1.97	2.50	(a)
2.04	1.94	1.97	2.59	(a)

(a) Ratio amount not shown due to a coverage deficiency in the amount of \$1,944.7 million.

The ratio of earnings to fixed charges represents the number of times fixed charges are covered by earnings. For the purpose of these ratios, earnings consist of income from continuing operations before provisions for income taxes and fixed charges less undistributed earnings in equity investments. For this purpose, fixed charges consist of (1) interest on all indebtedness and amortization of debt discount and expense, (2) interest capitalized and (3) an interest factor attributable to rentals.

USE OF PROCEEDS

This exchange offer is intended to satisfy our obligations under the registration rights agreement dated June 28, 2002 between us and Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation (the predecessor to Credit Suisse First Boston LLC), as representative of the several initial purchasers. We will not receive any cash proceeds from the issuance of the exchange notes. As consideration for the exchange notes, we will receive in exchange an equivalent principal amount of outstanding restricted notes, the terms of which are substantially identical to the terms of the exchange notes, except that the exchange notes will

6

be freely transferable and issued free of any covenants regarding exchange and registration rights. The net proceeds realized from the sale of the restricted notes were used to reduce short-term debt incurred for the retirement of maturing long-term debt, and to repay current maturities of long-term debt and for general corporate purposes.

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

You should read the following tables in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes incorporated by reference into this prospectus and in conjunction with the "Recent Developments" section.

As of and for the Years Ended December 31,

	:	1998(1)		1999		2000(2)		2001(3)		2002(4)
		(In millions except per share amounts)								
Income Statement Data:										
Sales	\$	1,985.1	\$	2,821.2	\$	3,194.5	\$	3,711.0	\$	2,377.1
Gross profit	•	894.1	•	1,061.9	Ψ.	1,313.5	*	1,688.1	Ψ	833.7
Earnings (loss) from continuing				2,002.0		1,010.0		1,000.1		055.7
operations(5)		134.7		148.0		194.3		245.3		(1,722.8)
Basic earnings (loss) per common										(-,,,,,
share—Continuing operations		1.68		1.62		2.09		2.19		(10.65)
Diluted earnings (loss) per common										` ,
share—Continuing operations		1.66		1.61		2.08		2.12		(10.65)
Cash dividends per common share		1.20		1.20		1.20		1.20		.775
Balance Sheet Data:										
Total assets		6,130.9		7,538.6		14,026.9		11,966.5		9,259.2
Short-term debt		235.6		248.9		501.0		548.6		301.0
Long-term debt (including current										
maturities)		1,625.4		2,245.1		2,397.6		2,327.0		2,928.7
Company-obligated preferred securities										
(including current maturities)		100.0		350.0		450.0		350.0		
Common shareholders' equity		1,446.3		1,525.4		1,799.6		2,551.6		1,607.9
Book value per common share		15.83		16.34		17.94		22.01		8.30

The following notes reflect the pretax effect of items affecting the comparability of the Selected Financial Information above:

⁽¹⁾ In 1998 we recorded (a) asset impairment charges of \$13.2 million reflecting a plan to curtail our retail activities, (b) an \$8.0 million charge relating to our plan to dissolve the EnergyOne, LLC partnership and (c) a \$6.5 million impairment related to our investment in a power plant project.

- (2) In the year ended December 31, 2000, we recorded \$19.4 million of reserves for impairments and other charges relating to under-performing pipeline assets, investments in retail assets in the United Kingdom, certain information technology assets, corporate intangibles and our construction of communications fiber-optic networks. We also recorded a \$44.0 million gain on the sale of a 34% interest in Uecomm Limited to the public.
- (3) In the year ended December 31, 2001, we (a) recorded a \$110.8 million gain on the sale of 5.75 million shares of Aquila Merchant Services, Inc. Class A common stock (earnings (loss) from continuing operations reflect our 80% ownership of Aquila Merchant from April 27, 2001 to December 31, 2001); (b) wrote off exposure related to the Enron bankruptcy of \$35.0 million in

7

Merchant Services and \$31.8 million in Domestic Networks; (c) recorded charges of \$16.5 million in our communications business related to preliminary system design and leases in markets we do not intend to develop; and (d) recorded charges of \$11.5 million in our Australia Networks related to valuation allowances on certain deferred taxes and collectibility of certain receivables.

- (4) Included in earnings (loss) from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2002, is (a) a \$696.1 million impairment charge on our investment in Quanta Services due to a continued drop in its share price, the termination of our proxy contest for control of Quanta Services and the decline of the telecommunications industry; (b) a \$247.5 million impairment charge on our investment in Midlands Electricity due to the indicated fair value being substantially below our carrying value as suggested by recent sale negotiations and analysis, as well as a corresponding impairment charge being taken at the investment level; (c) a \$127.2 million impairment charge on our investment in Multinet and AlintaGas based on the status of negotiations to sell our interest in these businesses, as well as a corresponding impairment charge being taken at the investment level; (d) a \$227.6 million impairment charge related to our 96% owned investment in Everest Connections due to our decision to significantly reduce our funding to this business and lower values for certain technology related investments; (e) a \$178.6 million write-down of Wholesale Services' goodwill in connection with our exit of the energy trading business; (f) other impairment charges and losses on sale of assets of \$106.2 million, primarily as a result of our decision to sell \$1 billion in assets to improve our liquidity position; and (g) \$210.2 million of restructuring charges from our exit from the wholesale energy trading business and the restructure of our utility business.
- (5) Depreciation and amortization expense included (in millions) \$1.2, \$2.7, \$10.9 and \$19.1 of goodwill amortization for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively. Goodwill amortization was not recorded in the year ended December 31, 2002 as a result of the implementation of a new accounting standard that discontinued the amortization of goodwill beginning January 1, 2002. Additionally, included in earnings from equity method investments for those periods was approximately (in millions) \$7.3, \$6.6, \$10.5 and \$17.6, respectively, of goodwill amortization.

EXCHANGE OFFER

Reason for the Exchange Offer

We sold the restricted notes on July 3, 2002 to Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation (predecessor to Credit Suisse First Boston LLC), UBS Warburg LLC, TD Securities (USA) Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Corp., RBC Dominion Securities Corporation and Banc One Capital Markets, Inc. (the "Purchasers"). The Purchasers subsequently resold certain of the restricted notes to qualified institutional buyers ("QIBs") in accordance with the provisions of Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

In connection with the offering of the restricted notes, we and the Purchasers entered into a registration rights agreement dated June 28, 2002, in which we agreed, among other things:

(1) within 90 days after the original issue date of the restricted notes, to file a registration statement with the SEC with respect to a registered offer to exchange the restricted notes for the exchange notes, the exchange notes having terms substantially identical in all material respects to the restricted notes (except that the exchange

notes will not contain terms with respect to transfer restrictions);

(2) to use our reasonable efforts to cause the exchange offer registration statement to be declared effective under the Securities Act within 210 days after the original issuance date of the restricted notes;

8

- (3) promptly following the date of effectiveness of the exchange offer registration statement (the "Effective Date") to offer the exchange notes in exchange for surrender of the restricted notes; and
- (4) to keep the exchange offer open for not less than 30 days (or longer, if required by applicable law) after the date notice of the exchange offer is mailed to the holder of the restricted notes.

We also agreed, under certain circumstances to:

- (1) promptly (but in no event more than 60 days after the occurrence of certain triggering events explained in the offering circular for the restricted notes) file a shelf registration statement covering re-sales of the restricted notes or the exchange notes, as the case may be;
- use our reasonable efforts to cause the shelf registration statement to be declared effective under the Securities Act on or prior to the 140th day following the date upon which a triggering event occurs; and
- (3) use our reasonable efforts to keep the shelf registration statement effective for a period of two years or until the earliest of:
 - (A) the time when the restricted or exchange notes covered by the shelf registration statement are no longer restricted securities (as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, as amended); and
 - (B) the date on which all restricted or exchange notes registered under the shelf registration statement are disposed of in accordance with that registration statement.

Where the above obligations are not fulfilled, holders of outstanding restricted notes are entitled to receive liquidated damages in an amount equal to \$.05 per week per \$1,000 in principal amount of restricted notes held by such holder for each week or portion of a week that the registration default continues for the first 90-day period immediately following the occurrence of such default. The amount of the liquidated damages will increase by an additional \$.05 per week per \$1,000 in principal amount of restricted notes with respect to each subsequent 90-day period until all registration defaults have been cured, up to a maximum amount of liquidated damages of \$.25 per week per \$1,000 in principal amount of restricted notes.

We have not timely met all of the above obligations and therefore will pay liquidated damages to holders of notes as required by the registration rights agreement. The exchange offer being made by this prospectus is intended to satisfy certain of our remaining obligations under the registration rights agreement. No additional liquidated damages will accrue to the restricted nor the exchange notes following the date that the registration statement relating to the exchange offer is declared effective by the SEC, unless we do not thereafter fulfill certain of our obligations under the registration rights agreement.

Where applicable, liquidated damages will be paid by us or our paying agent to the holders of the restricted notes or the exchange notes, as the case may be, on each interest payment date. No liquidated damages will be payable for any week beginning after all registration defaults have been cured. We will not be required to pay liquidated damages for more than one registration default at any given time.

If we effect the exchange offer, we will be entitled to close the exchange offer 30 days after the commencement if we have accepted all restricted notes validly tendered in accordance with the terms of the exchange offer.

For a more complete understanding of your exchange and registration rights, please refer to the registration rights agreement, which is included as an exhibit to the registration statement relating to the exchange notes.

Terms of the Exchange Offer

The restricted notes were issued in a single series of $11^7/8\%$ Senior Notes due July 1, 2012. As of the date of this prospectus, \$500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the restricted notes are outstanding.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus and in the accompanying letter of transmittal, we will accept any and all restricted notes validly tendered and not withdrawn prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on June 27, 2003, the date the exchange offer expires. This date and time may be extended. See "Expiration Date; Extensions; Amendments" below. After authentication of the exchange notes by the trustee under the indenture governing the notes or an authenticating agent, we will issue and deliver \$1,000 in principal amount of exchange notes in exchange for each \$1,000 principal amount of outstanding restricted notes accepted in the exchange offer. Holders may tender some or all of their restricted notes pursuant to the exchange offer in denominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples thereof.

The form and terms of the exchange notes are identical in all material respects to the form and terms of the outstanding restricted notes, except that:

- the offering of the exchange notes has been registered under the Securities Act;
- the exchange notes will not be subject to transfer restrictions; and
- the exchange notes will be issued free of any covenants regarding exchange and registration rights.

The exchange notes will be issued under and entitled to the benefits of the indenture that governs the restricted notes.

The restricted notes are transferable only in book-entry form through the facilities of DTC. The exchange notes will also be issuable and transferable only in book-entry form through DTC.

This prospectus, together with the accompanying letter of transmittal, is initially being sent to all registered holders of restricted notes as of the close of business on May 15, 2003. The exchange offer for restricted notes is not conditioned upon any minimum aggregate principal amount being tendered. However, the exchange offer is subject to certain customary conditions that may be waived by us, and to the terms and provisions of the registration rights agreement. See "Conditions to the Exchange Offer" below.

The exchange agent is Bank One Trust Company, N.A. We will be deemed to have accepted validly tendered restricted notes when given oral or written notice of acceptance to the exchange agent. The exchange agent will act as agent of the tendering holders for the purpose of receiving exchange notes from us and as our agent for the purpose of delivering exchange notes to such holders. See "Exchange Agent" below.

If any tendered restricted notes are not accepted for exchange because of an invalid tender or the occurrence of certain other events described in this prospectus, certificates for any such unaccepted restricted notes will be credited to an account maintained with DTC (at our cost) to the tendering holder as promptly as practicable after the expiration of the exchange offer.

Holders who tender restricted notes in the exchange offer will not be required to pay brokerage commissions or fees to us or the exchange agent or, subject to the instructions in the letter of transmittal, transfer taxes with respect to the exchange of restricted notes pursuant to the exchange offer. We will pay all charges and expenses, other than certain applicable taxes, in connection with the exchange offer. See "Solicitation of Tenders, Fees and Expenses" below.

Expiration Date; Extensions; Amendments

The exchange offer will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on June 27, 2003 unless we, in our sole discretion, extend it. We may extend the exchange offer at any time by giving oral or written notice to the exchange agent by 9:00 a.m. on the day after the expiration date and by timely public announcement.

We reserve the right, in our sole discretion, to amend the terms of the exchange offer in any manner. If any of the conditions set forth below under "Conditions to the Exchange Offer" has occurred and has not been waived by us, we expressly reserve the right, in our sole discretion, by giving oral or written notice to the exchange agent, to (a) delay acceptance of, or refuse to accept, any restricted notes not previously accepted, (b) extend the exchange offer, or (c) terminate the exchange offer.

Any such delay in acceptance, extension, termination or amendment will be followed as promptly as practicable by oral or written notice given by us to the registered holders of the restricted notes. If the exchange offer is amended in a manner determined by us to constitute a material change, we will promptly disclose such amendment in a manner reasonably calculated to inform the holders of such amendment, and we will extend the exchange offer to the extent required by law. If the exchange offer is terminated, federal law requires that we promptly either exchange or return all restricted notes that have been tendered.

We will have no obligation to publish, advise, or otherwise communicate any delay in acceptance, extension, termination or amendment of the exchange offer other than by making a timely press release. We may also publicly communicate these matters in any other appropriate manner of our choosing.

Procedures for Tendering

Only a DTC participant listed on a DTC securities position listing with respect to the restricted notes may tender its restricted notes in the exchange offer. To tender restricted notes in the exchange offer, holders of restricted notes that are DTC participants must follow the procedures for book-entry transfer as provided for below under "Book-Entry Transfer."

To be effective, a tender must be made prior to the expiration of the exchange offer.

Any beneficial owner whose restricted notes are registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee and who wishes to tender restricted notes in the exchange offer should contact such registered holder promptly and instruct such registered holder to tender on such beneficial owner's behalf.

The tender by a holder of restricted notes will constitute an agreement among such holder, us and the exchange agent in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus and in the letter of transmittal. A holder may tender all or less than all the restricted notes held by the holder. The entire amount of restricted notes delivered to the exchange agent will be deemed to have been tendered unless otherwise indicated.

By participating in the exchange, the tendering holder represents to us that:

- (1) any exchange notes received by the tendering holder will be acquired in the ordinary course of its business;
- (2) the tendering holder has no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in the distribution of the exchange notes; and

11

(3) the tendering holder is not an "affiliate," as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act, of ours, or, if it is an affiliate, that it will comply with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act to the extent applicable.

A broker-dealer that receives exchange notes for its own account in exchange for restricted notes that were acquired by

it as a result of market-making or other trading activities also acknowledges by participating in the exchange that the broker-dealer will deliver a copy of this prospectus in connection with the resale of such exchange notes. By so acknowledging and by delivering a prospectus, such broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act. See "Plan of Distribution."

The transmittal of an Agent's Message, as described below under "Book-Entry Transfer," to the exchange agent is at the election and risk of the holders of restricted notes.

All questions as to the validity, form, eligibility, acceptance and withdrawal of the tendered restricted notes will be determined by us in our sole discretion, which determination will be final and binding. We reserve the absolute right to reject restricted notes not properly tendered or any restricted notes our acceptance of which would, in the opinion of our counsel, be unlawful. We also reserve the absolute right to waive any irregularities or conditions of tender as to particular restricted notes. Our interpretation of the terms and conditions of the exchange offer will be final and binding on all parties. Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with tenders of restricted notes must be cured within such time as we shall determine.

Although we intend to notify tendering holders of defects or irregularities with respect to tenders of restricted notes, neither we, the exchange agent nor any other person will be under any duty or obligation to do so, and no person will incur any liability for failure to give such notification. Restricted notes will not be validly tendered until such irregularities have been cured or waived. Any restricted notes received by the exchange agent that we determine are not properly tendered or the tender of which is otherwise rejected by us will be returned by the exchange agent to the tendering holder or other person specified as soon as practicable following the expiration of the exchange offer.

We reserve the right in our sole discretion:

- (1) to purchase or make offers for any restricted notes that remain outstanding subsequent to the expiration of the exchange offer;
- (2) to terminate the exchange offer, as set forth in "Conditions to the Exchange Offer" below; and
- (3) to the extent permitted by applicable law, to purchase restricted notes during the pendency of the exchange offer in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise.

The terms of any such purchases or offers may differ from the terms of the exchange offer.

Book-Entry Transfer

The exchange agent will make a request promptly after the date of this prospectus to establish accounts with respect to the restricted notes at DTC for the purpose of facilitating the exchange offer. Any financial institution that is a participant in DTC's system may make book-entry delivery of restricted notes by causing DTC to transfer such restricted notes into the Exchange Agent's DTC account in accordance with DTC's Automated Tender Offer Program procedures for such transfer. The exchange for tendered restricted notes will only be made after a timely confirmation of a book-entry transfer of the restricted notes into the exchange agent's account, and timely receipt by the exchange agent of an Agent's Message.

12

The term "Agent's Message" means a message transmitted by DTC and received by the exchange agent and forming part of the confirmation of a book-entry transfer, which states that DTC has received an express acknowledgment from a participant tendering restricted notes and that such participant has received an appropriate letter of transmittal and agrees to be bound by the terms of the letter of transmittal, and we may enforce such agreement against the participant. Delivery of an Agent's Message will also constitute an acknowledgment from the tendering DTC participant that the representations contained in the appropriate letter of transmittal and described in "Procedures for Tendering," above, are true and correct.

Guaranteed Delivery Procedures

Holders who wish to tender their restricted notes but cannot complete the procedure for book-entry transfer on a timely basis, may effect a tender if:

- (1) the tender is made through an Eligible Institution;
- (2) prior to the expiration of the exchange offer, the exchange agent receives from such Eligible Institution a properly completed and duly executed Notice of Guaranteed Delivery by facsimile transmittal, mail or hand delivery; and
- (3) confirmation of a book-entry transfer into the exchange agent's account at DTC of restricted notes delivered electronically, is received by the exchange agent within three business days after the expiration of the exchange offer.

A Notice of Guaranteed Delivery must state:

- (1) the name and address of the holder;
- (2) the principal amount of such restricted notes tendered;
- (3) that the tender is being made thereby; and
- (4) that the holder guarantees that, within three business days after the expiration of the exchange offer, confirmation of a book-entry transfer into the exchange agent's account at DTC of restricted notes delivered electronically will be deposited by the Eligible Institution with the exchange agent.

Forms of the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery will be available from the exchange agent upon request.

Withdrawal of Tenders

Except as otherwise provided in this prospectus, tenders of restricted notes may be withdrawn at any time prior to the expiration of the exchange offer by delivery of a written or facsimile transmission notice of withdrawal to the exchange agent at its address set forth in this prospectus.

Any such notice of withdrawal must:

- (1) specify the name of the person having tendered the restricted notes to be withdrawn;
- (2) identify the restricted notes to be withdrawn, including the principal amount of such restricted notes, and the name and number of the account at DTC to be credited;
- be transmitted by DTC and received by the exchange agent in the same manner as the Agent's Message transferring the notes; and
- (4) specify the name in which any such restricted notes are to be registered, if different from that of the depositor of the restricted notes.

13

All questions as to the validity, form and eligibility of such withdrawal notices will be determined by us and will be final and binding on all parties. Any restricted notes so withdrawn will be deemed not to have been validly tendered for purposes of the exchange offer, and no exchange notes will be issued in exchange unless the restricted notes so withdrawn are validly re-tendered. Any restricted notes that have been tendered but are not accepted for exchange will be returned to the holder without cost to such holder as soon as practicable after withdrawal, rejection of tender or termination of the exchange offer. Properly withdrawn restricted notes may be re-tendered by following the procedures described above under "Procedures for

Tendering" and "Book-Entry Transfer" at any time prior to the expiration of the exchange offer.

Conditions to the Exchange Offer

We will not be required to accept for exchange, or to exchange notes for, any restricted notes, and may terminate or amend the exchange offer before the acceptance of such restricted notes if, in our judgment, any of the following conditions has occurred:

- (1) the exchange offer, or the making of any exchange by a holder of restricted notes, violates applicable law or the applicable interpretations of the SEC staff;
- any action or proceeding has been instituted or threatened in any court or by or before any governmental agency or body with respect to the exchange offer; or
- there has been adopted or enacted any law, statute, rule or regulation that can reasonably be expected to impair the ability of us to proceed with the exchange offer.

See "Expiration Date; Extensions; Amendments" above for a discussion of possible actions if any of the foregoing conditions occur.

The foregoing conditions are for our sole benefit. They may be asserted by us regardless of the circumstances giving rise to any such condition or may be waived by us in whole or in part at any time in our sole discretion. The failure by us at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights will not be deemed a waiver of any such right, and each such right will be deemed an ongoing right which may be asserted at any time and from time to time.

In addition, we will not accept for exchange any restricted notes tendered, and no exchange notes will be issued in exchange for those restricted notes, if at such time any stop order is threatened or in effect with respect to the registration statement of which this prospectus constitutes a part or the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. In any of those events we are required to use reasonable efforts to obtain the withdrawal of any stop order at the earliest possible time.

14

Exchange Agent

Bank One Trust Company, N.A. has been appointed as exchange agent for the exchange offer. Requests for assistance and requests for additional copies of this document or of the letter of transmittal should be directed to the exchange agent addressed as follows:

By Mail:
By Hand Delivery
or Overnight Courier:
By Facsimile
Transmission:
(614) 248-9987

Suite 1N, OH1-0184
Suite 1N, OH1-0184
For Facsimile

Suite 1N, OH1-0184 For Facsimile
1111 Polaris Parkway 1111 Polaris Parkway Confirmation:
Columbus, OH 42340 Columbus, OH 42340 (614) 248-7499
Attention: Exchanges Attention: Exchanges

For Information: (800) 346-5153 Email: bondholder@bankone.com

Solicitation of Tenders; Fees and Expenses

The principal solicitation pursuant to the exchange offer is being made by us by mail and through the facilities of DTC. Additional solicitations may be made by our officers and regular employees in person or by telegraph, telephone, facsimile transmission, electronic communication or similar methods.

We have not retained any dealer-manager in connection with the exchange offer and will not make any payments to brokers, dealers or other persons soliciting acceptances of the exchange offer. We will, however, pay the exchange agent reasonable and customary fees for its services and will reimburse the exchange agent for its reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with the exchange offer and will indemnify the exchange agent for certain losses and claims incurred by it as a result of the exchange offer. We may also pay brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them in forwarding copies of this document, the letter of transmittal and related documents to the beneficial owners of the restricted notes and in handling or forwarding tenders for exchange.

We will pay all expenses incurred in connection with the exchange offer, including fees and expenses of the trustee, accounting and legal fees, including the expense of one counsel for the holders of the restricted notes, and printing costs.

We will pay any transfer taxes applicable to the exchange of restricted notes pursuant to the exchange offer. If, however, a transfer tax is imposed for any reason other than the exchange of restricted notes pursuant to the exchange offer, then the amount of any such transfer taxes, whether imposed on the registered holder or any other person, will be payable by the tendering holder.

Accounting Treatment

The exchange notes will be recorded at the same carrying value as the restricted notes, as reflected in our accounting records on the date of the exchange. Accordingly, no gain or loss for accounting purposes will be recognized by us as a result of the consummation of the exchange offer. The expense of the exchange offer will be amortized by us over the term of the exchange notes.

15

Transferability of the Exchange Notes

Based on certain no-action letters issued by the staff of the SEC to others in unrelated transactions, we believe that a noteholder may offer for resale, resell or otherwise transfer any exchange notes without compliance with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act, unless the noteholder is:

- (1) acquiring the exchange notes other than in the ordinary course of business;
- (2) participating, intends to participate or has an arrangement or understanding with any person to participate, in a distribution of the exchange notes;
- (3) an "affiliate" of ours, as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act; or
- (4) a Purchaser who acquired restricted notes from its in the initial offering to resell pursuant to Rule 144A or any other available exemption under the Securities Act.

In any of the foregoing circumstances, a noteholder (a) will not be able to rely on the interpretations of the staff of the SEC, in connection with any offer for resale, resale or other transfer of exchange notes and (b) must comply with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act, or have an exemption available, in connection with any offer for resale, resale or other transfer of the exchange notes.

We are not making this exchange offer to, nor will it accept surrenders of restricted notes from, holders of restricted notes in any state in which this exchange offer would not comply with the applicable securities laws or "blue sky" laws of such state.

Each broker-dealer that receives exchange notes for its own account in exchange for restricted notes, when such restricted notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities, must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such exchange notes. See "Plan of Distribution."

Clearing of the Notes

The exchange notes will have a CUSIP number different from the CUSIP number for the restricted notes.

Consequences of a Failure to Exchange Restricted Notes

Following consummation of the exchange offer, assuming we have accepted for exchange all validly tendered restricted notes, we will have fulfilled our exchange and registration obligations under the registration rights agreement. All untendered restricted notes outstanding after consummation of the exchange offer will continue to be our valid and enforceable debt obligations, subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth in the second supplemental indenture to the indenture governing the notes. Holders of restricted notes will only be able to offer for sale, sell or otherwise transfer untendered restricted notes as follows:

- (1) to us, although we have no obligation to purchase untendered restricted notes except if they are called for redemption in accordance with the provisions of the indenture governing the notes;
- pursuant to a registration statement that has been declared effective under the Securities Act, although we will have no obligation, and do not intend, to file any such registration statement;
- (3) for so long as the restricted notes are eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act, to a person reasonably believed to be a QIB within the meaning of Rule 144A, that purchases for its own account or for the account of a QIB to whom notice is given that

16

the transfer is being made in reliance on the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A; or

(4) pursuant to any other available exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

To the extent that restricted notes are tendered and accepted in the exchange offer, the liquidity of the trading market for untendered restricted notes could be adversely affected.

DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES

The restricted notes were issued and the exchange notes will be issued as a separate series of securities under the indenture, dated as of August 24, 2001, as supplemented, between us and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as the trustee. The statements made in this section relating to the indenture and the notes are summaries of the provisions of the indenture and the notes. For a full description of the terms of the notes, noteholders should refer to the indenture, as supplemented, a copy of which can be obtained from us upon request. See "Where You Can Find More Information." The indenture is subject to, and governed by, the United States Trust Indenture Act of 1939. As used in this description, the term "notes" refers to and includes the restricted notes and the exchange notes.

General

The notes are direct, unsecured obligations and will rank without preference or priority among themselves and equally with all of our existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness. The notes will mature on July 1, 2012. In the future, we may issue an additional principal amount of notes of the same series with the same CUSIP number, without the

consent of the noteholders.

The notes will be represented by a global note issue in fully registered form that, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and as nominee for DTC. DTC will act as securities depository for the notes, with certain exceptions. Beneficial interests in these notes will be in book-entry form only.

We will pay the principal of and interest on the notes at the office or agency we maintain in New York, New York for that purpose. In addition, the transfer or exchange of the notes will be registerable at that same office. We may, however, pay interest by check mailed to the address as it appears on the security register of any person entitled to payment of interest. (Sections 301, 305 and 1002).

Interest on the Exchange Notes

Interest on the exchange notes will accrue from January 1, 2003. The exchange notes will bear interest at a rate of $11^{7/8}\%$ per annum, plus any adjustment amount. Interest on the exchange notes will be payable on January 1 and July 1 of each year to the person in whose name the note was registered at the close of business on the preceding December 15 and June 15, respectively, subject to certain exceptions. Interest on the notes will be paid on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months. Assuming that the exchange offer is consummated prior to June 15, 2003, as anticipated, the first interest payment on the exchange notes will be on July 1, 2003.

Interest Rate Adjustment Based on Our Credit Rating

Our current senior unsecured long-term debt ratings ("ratings") are described in the table below:

Rating Service	Rating	Outlook
Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") Standard & Poor's Corporation ("S&P") Fitch, Inc. ("Fitch")	Caa1 B B-	Negative Negative Negative

17

The notes provide that in the event of a downgrade in our rating below Baa3 by Moody's or BBB- by S&P or Fitch, the interest rate on the notes will be adjusted as follows:

	Adjustment	S&P or Fitch	Adjustment	
Moody's Rating	Amount	Rating	Amount	
Ba1	1.000%	1.000% BB+		
Ba2	1.250%	1.250% BB		
Ba3 or lower	1.500%	BB- or lower	1.500%	

The adjusted interest rate per annum for the notes will be 11^{7} /8%, plus the sum of any Moody's adjustment amount plus the higher of (a) any S&P adjustment amount or (b) any Fitch adjustment amount set forth above.

Where a rating change is made by one of the relevant rating services during any interest payment period, the amount of interest to be paid with respect to such period shall be calculated at a rate per annum equal to the weighted average of the interest rate in effect immediately prior to such change and the rate in effect upon such new rating being given, calculated by multiplying each such rate by the number of days such rate is in effect during such interest payment period, determining the sum of such products and dividing such sum by the number of days in that interest payment period. Given our current ratings, the adjusted interest rate per annum is currently $14^{7/8}$ %.

Events of Default

With respect to the notes, the indenture defines an event of default as:

- a default in the payment of principal (or premium, if any) on any note of that series at its maturity;
- a default in the payment of any interest on any note of that series for 30 days;
- our failure to perform any other of the covenants or warranties in the indenture for 60 days after we receive notice of our failure (other than a covenant or warranty included in the indenture solely for the benefit of a series of notes other than that particular series);
- a default by us under any indebtedness for borrowed money resulting in indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount exceeding \$40,000,000 becoming due prior to maturity, if the acceleration of that indebtedness is not rescinded within 10 days after notice of such default;
- certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization; and
- any other event of default provided with respect to the notes of that series. (Section 501).

If any event of default with respect to any series of notes at the time outstanding occurs and is continuing, either the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding notes of that series may, by notice, declare the principal amount of all notes of that series to be due and payable immediately. Upon certain conditions the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding notes of that series on behalf of the holders of all notes of that series may annul that declaration and waive past defaults. A declaration may not, however, be annulled if the default is a default in payment of principal of, or premium or interest, if any, on, the notes of that series and other specified defaults unless such default has been cured. (Sections 502 and 513).

The indenture states that the trustee will give notice to the noteholders of a known default if that default is uncured or not waived. The trustee may decide to withhold a notice of default if it determines in good faith that withholding of the notice is in the interest of the holders of the notes unless the default is in the payment of principal (or premium, if any) or interest, if any. The trustee may not give notice of default until 30 days after the occurrence of a default in the performance of a covenant in the indenture other than for the payment of principal (or premium, if any) or interest, if

18

any. The term default for the purpose only of this provision means the happening of any of the events of default specified in the indenture and relating to a series of outstanding notes, excluding any grace periods and irrespective of any notice requirements. (Section 602).

The indenture contains a provision entitling the trustee, subject to the duty of the trustee during a default to act with the required standard of care, to be indemnified by the holders of the notes before proceeding to exercise any right or power under the indenture at the request of such holders of the notes. (Section 603). The indenture states that the holders of a majority in principal amount of outstanding notes of a series may direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee, or exercising any trust or other power conferred on the trustee. The trustee, however, may decline to act if that direction is contrary to law or the indenture. (Section 512).

The indenture requires us to annually file with the trustee a certificate stating that no default exists or identifying any existing default.

Defeasance

At our option, we:

• will be discharged from all obligations with respect to the notes (except for certain obligations including registering the transfer or exchange of the notes, replacing stolen, lost or mutilated notes, maintaining payment

agencies and holding monies for payment in trust); or

need not comply with certain restrictive covenants of the indenture,

if we deposit with the trustee (and in the case of a discharge, 91 days after such deposit) money, or U.S. government obligations, or a combination of both, sufficient to pay all the principal of and interest on the notes on the date those payments are due in accordance with the terms of the notes to and including a redemption date which we irrevocably designate for redemption of the notes. To exercise this option, we must meet certain conditions, including delivering to the trustee an opinion of counsel stating that the deposit and related defeasance will not cause the holders of the notes to recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes. (Sections 403 and 1008).

Modification of the Indenture

We and the trustee may add provisions to or change or eliminate any of the provisions of the indenture relating to the notes of a series if holders of at least a majority in principal amount of that series of the notes, voting as a class, consent. We and the trustee cannot, however, modify the indenture to:

- change the stated maturity of any note;
- reduce the principal amount of, or the rate of interest or any premium on, any note;
- change the place or currency of payment on any note;
- impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or after the stated maturity of any note;
- reduce the percentage of outstanding notes necessary to modify or amend the indenture; or
- reduce the percentage of aggregate principal amount of outstanding notes necessary to waive compliance with certain provisions of the indenture or to waive certain covenants and defaults. (Section 902).

19

Consolidations, Merger and Sale of Assets

Without the consent of the holders of any of the outstanding notes under the indenture, we may:

- consolidate with or merge into any other corporation;
- transfer or lease substantially all of our assets to any person;
- acquire or lease substantially all of the assets of any person; or
- permit any corporation to merge into us, if:
 - the successor is a corporation organized under the laws of any domestic jurisdiction;
 - the successor corporation, if other than us, assumes our obligations on the notes and under the indenture; and
 - after giving the effect to the transaction, no event of default, and no event which, after notice or lapse of time, would become an event of default, will occur. (Section 801).

Certain of the covenants described above will not necessarily afford the holders protection in the event we are involved

in a highly leveraged transaction, such as a leveraged buyout. However, we must obtain regulatory approval to issue long-term debt.

Outstanding Notes

In determining whether the holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding notes have given any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver under the indenture, notes that we or any of our affiliates own are not considered to be outstanding. (Section 101).

Book-Entry Systems

The Depository Trust Company will act as securities depository for the notes. The notes will be issued in fully-registered form in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee). We will issue one or more fully registered certificates as global securities for the notes in the aggregate principal amount of the notes and deposit the certificates with DTC.

DTC is a limited purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the United States Federal Reserve Systems, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered under Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds securities that its participants deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the settlement among direct participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through computerized book-entry changes in direct participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and other organizations. DTC is owned by a number of its direct participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange, Inc. and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as securities brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a direct participant, either directly or indirectly. The rules that apply to DTC and its participants are on file with the SEC.

If you intend to exchange any of the notes you must do so through the DTC system by or through direct participants. The participant that you exchange through will receive a credit for the notes on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual owner of notes, who we refer to as a "beneficial owner," is in turn to be received on the participants' records. Beneficial owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their exchange, but beneficial owners are expected to receive written

20

confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the participant through which the beneficial owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the notes are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of participants acting on behalf of beneficial owners. Beneficial owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the notes except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the notes is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all notes deposited by direct participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co. The deposit of notes with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. effect no change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual beneficial owners of the notes. DTC's records reflect only the identity of the direct participants to whose accounts such notes are credited, which may or may not be the beneficial owners. The participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to direct participants, by direct participants to indirect participants, and by participants to beneficial owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. will consent or vote with respect to the notes. Under its usual procedures, DTC would mail an Omnibus Proxy to us as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting

or voting rights to those direct participants to whose accounts the notes are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

We will make principal and interest payments on the notes to DTC. DTC's practice is to credit direct participants' accounts on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive payment on the payable date. Payments by participants to beneficial owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such participant and not of DTC, us or the trustee, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. We or the trustee will be responsible for the payment of principal and interest to DTC. DTC will be responsible for the disbursement of those payments to its participants, and the participants will be responsible for disbursements of those payments to beneficial owners.

DTC may discontinue providing its service as securities depository with respect to the notes at any time by giving reasonable notice to us or the trustee. Under these circumstances, in the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, we will print and deliver to you restricted note certificates.

Also, in case we decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfer through DTC (or a successor securities depository) we will print and deliver to you restricted note certificates.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that we believe to be reliable (including DTC), but we take no responsibility for its accuracy.

Neither we nor the trustee will have any responsibility or obligation to participants, or the persons for whom they act as nominees, with respect to the accuracy of the records of DTC, its nominee or any participant, any ownership interest in the notes, or any payments to, or the providing of notice to participants or beneficial owners.

21

Redemption

We may redeem the notes at any time, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of (1) the principal amount being redeemed or (2) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the notes being redeemed, discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Yield plus 50 basis points, plus in each case accrued interest to the redemption date.

"Treasury Yield" means, for any redemption date, the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual equivalent yield to maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue, assuming a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the Comparable Treasury Price for the redemption date.

"Comparable Treasury Issue" means the United States Treasury security selected by an Independent Investment Banker as having a maturity comparable to the remaining term of the notes that would be utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporation debt securities of comparable maturity to the remaining term of the notes.

"Independent Investment Banker" means Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation or its successor or, if Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation or its successor is unwilling or unable to select the Comparable Treasury Issue, one of the remaining Reference Treasury Dealers appointed by the trustee after consultation with us.

"Comparable Treasury Price" means, for any redemption date, (1) the average of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) on the third business day preceding the redemption date, as set forth in the daily statistical release (or any successor release) published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and designated "Composite 3:30 p.m. Quotations for U.S. Government Securities" or (2) if that release (or any successor release) is not published or does not contain those prices on that business day, (A) the average of the Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations for the redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest Reference Treasury

Dealer Quotations for the redemption date, or (B) if we obtain fewer than four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all of the quotations.

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations" means, for each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the average, as determined by the trustee, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing to the trustee by the Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m. on the third business day preceding the redemption date.

"Reference Treasury Dealer" means (1) each of Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and any other primary U.S. Government Securities dealer in New York City (a "Primary Treasury Dealer") designated by, and not affiliated with Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and its successors, provided, however, that if Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation or any of its designees ceases to be a Primary Treasury Dealer, we will appoint another Primary Treasury Dealer as a substitute and (2) any other Primary Treasury Dealer selected by us.

If we elect to redeem less than all the notes and the notes are at the time represented by a global security, then the particular interest to be redeemed will be selected by lot. If we elect to redeem less than all of the notes, and the notes are not represented by a global security, then the Trustee will select the particular notes to be redeemed in a manner it deems appropriate and fair.

The notes do not provide for any sinking fund.

22

Limitation on Issuance of Mortgage Bonds

We have agreed not to issue any mortgage bonds under our General Mortgage Indenture and Deed of Trust (the "Commerce Indenture"), dated as of September 15, 1988, between us and Commerce Bank of Kansas City, N.A., as trustee, or under the Indenture of Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of April 1, 1946, as amended and supplemented (the "SJLP Indenture"), between us, as successors to St. Joseph Light & Power Company, and The Bank of New York, as trustee, without directly securing the notes equally and ratably with the mortgage bonds and all other obligations and indebtedness secured under the relevant indenture. As of the date of this prospectus, we have mortgage bonds outstanding in the approximate amount of \$20.3 million under the SJLP Indenture. There are no bonds outstanding under the Commerce Indenture.

We have issued \$430 million of mortgage bonds under our Indenture of Mortgage and Deed of Trust (the "Bank One Indenture") between us and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as trustee, dated April 1, 2003. Holders of notes have no right to be secured equally and notably with mortgage bonds issued pursuant to the Bank One Indenture.

TAX MATTERS

The exchange of the restricted notes for exchange notes under the exchange offer should not be a taxable exchange for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, there should be no U.S. federal income tax consequences to holders exchanging the restricted notes for the exchange notes pursuant to the exchange offer.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Each broker-dealer that receives exchange notes for its own account pursuant to the exchange offer must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such exchange notes. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of exchange notes or market-making activities or other trading activities.

We will not receive any cash proceeds from any sale of exchange notes by broker-dealers or other persons. Exchange notes received by broker-dealers for their own account pursuant to the exchange offer may be sold from time to time in one

or more transaction in the over-the-counter market, in negotiated transactions, through the writing of options on the exchange notes or a combination of such methods of resale, at market prices prevailing at the time of resale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices or at negotiated prices. Any such resale may be made directly to purchasers or to or through brokers or dealers who may receive compensation in the form of commissions or concessions from any such broker-dealer or the purchasers of any such exchange notes. Any broker-dealer that resells exchange notes that were received by it for its own account pursuant to the exchange offer and any broker or dealer that participates in a distribution of such exchange notes may be deemed to be an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act, and any profit on any such resale of exchange notes and any commission or concessions received by any such persons may be deemed to be underwriting compensation under the Securities Act. The letter of transmittal states that, by acknowledging that it will deliver and by delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act.

For a period starting on the date of this prospectus and ending on the close of business on the earlier to occur of:

- (1) the date on which all exchange notes held by broker-dealers eligible to use the prospectus to satisfy their prospectus delivery obligations under the Securities Act have been sold and
- (2) the date 180 days after the consummation of the exchange offer.

23

we will make this prospectus, as amended or supplemented, available to any broker-dealer in connection with any such resale and will promptly send additional copies of this prospectus and any amendment or supplement to this prospectus to any broker-dealer that requests such documents.

We have agreed to pay all expenses incident to the exchange offer, including the expense of one counsel for the holders of the restricted notes, other than commissions or concession of any broker-dealers and will indemnify the holders of the notes, including any broker-dealers, against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

LEGAL OPINIONS

The validity of the securities offered hereby will be passed upon for us by our General Counsel.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements and schedules of Aquila, Inc. Inc. as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002, have been incorporated by reference in this prospectus in reliance upon the reports of KPMG LLP and Arthur Andersen LLP (as it relates to Aquila's investment in Quanta Services, Inc. ("Quanta")), independent accountants, incorporated by reference herein, and upon the authority of said firms as experts in accounting and auditing. The audit report covering the December 31, 2002, financial statements refer to (i) the restatement of Aquila's statement of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, (ii) a change in reporting certain energy trading activities for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 and (iii) a change to its method of accounting for goodwill.

The consolidated financial statements incorporated in this prospectus by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of the Aquila, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 of Quanta have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting. Such report contains two explanatory paragraphs relating to (i) Quanta's adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" (SFAS No. 142) on January 1, 2002 as described in Note 2 and (ii) the audit by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP of Quanta's required transitional disclosures of SFAS No. 142 as described in Note 2 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. However, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was not engaged to audit, review or apply any procedures to the 2000 and 2001 consolidated financial statements of Quanta other than with respect to such transitional disclosures.

QuickLinks

TABLE OF CONTENTS
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
SUMMARY
RISK FACTORS
ABOUT AQUILA
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
USE OF PROCEEDS
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
EXCHANGE OFFER
DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES
TAX MATTERS
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
LEGAL OPINIONS
EXPERTS